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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I can't believe a

          3  politician forgot to turn the microphone on. After

          4  that, we will turn to proposal Intro. 257-A, a local

          5  law to amend the administrative code of the City of

          6  New York in relation to restricting the use of

          7  mobile phones in a place of public performance. We

          8  will be discussing recent revisions to the bill and

          9  hearing from a few interested parties.

         10                 Our first order of business today

         11  will be a briefing from our Department of Consumer

         12  Affairs, or DSA (sic). They have been investigating

         13  activities of cigarette retailers around the City,

         14  focusing on two illegal practices. First it's a sale

         15  of cigarettes to minors, and second is the sale of

         16  individual or loose cigarettes.

         17                 We're eager to hear about what DCA

         18  has found, and we hope to collaborate with them to

         19  curtail these illegal activities.

         20                 If the representatives want to join

         21  us, that would be terrific. I also want to take an

         22  opportunity to introduce two of our Committee

         23  members, Oliver Koppell from the Bronx; another one

         24  of our new members to the Council, James Davis from

         25  Brooklyn. I'm sure other of our colleagues will be
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          2  joining us.

          3                 Thank you. Please introduce

          4  yourselves. And you're new to that microphone, so if

          5  the light is off, the microphone is on.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: Good

          7  afternoon. My name is Jonathan Mintz. I'm the Deputy

          8  Commissioner at the Department of Consumer Affairs.

          9  Commissioner Dykstra is sorry that she had a

         10  conflict and wasn't able to make it this afternoon,

         11  so I'm going to flatter myself and say second best.

         12                 I'm also joined this afternoon by

         13  Pansy Mullings, our new Director of Enforcement,

         14  formerly from HPD and formerly formerly from

         15  Sanitation. You have already met --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: How do you spell

         17  your first name?

         18                 MS. MULLINGS: P-a-n-s-y.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And the last one is

         20  Mullings?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: Mullings,

         22  with a g at the end.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Mullings.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: Right.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED: For the record
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          2  here.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: And you

          4  may have already met Cruz Daniels -- son, I'm sorry

          5  -- Cruz Danielson, earlier, who continues to report

          6  to Pansy. And I'm sure you have all met Andy Eiler

          7  to my left from Legislative Affairs.

          8                 This is my first time meeting before

          9  you so I'm honored. I wanted to give you, as you

         10  suggested, an overview on our enforcement efforts to

         11  date regarding illegal sale of cigarettes to minors.

         12                 Initially this grant from the State

         13  came through in April '98, and both the number of

         14  our inspections and the compliance rate have

         15  steadily risen since then. In '98 we inspected

         16  2,392, we made that many undercover inspections, and

         17  had a compliance rate Citywide of 52 percent.

         18                 The following year we jumped to over

         19  7,500 inspections, and the compliance rate began to

         20  rise and was at 68 percent Citywide.

         21                 2000, our number of inspections per

         22  the grant I believe went down to 5,600,

         23  nevertheless, the compliance rate continued to rise

         24  to 75 percent.

         25                 In 2001 our number of inspections
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          2  under cover were 9,500 and change, the compliance

          3  rate rose to 86 percent. For 2002 our numbers are at

          4  10,683 undercover inspections, and the compliance

          5  rate has leveled off to 85 percent.

          6                 Our intensified inspection comes in

          7  the summer, part of that is resource driven after we

          8  can get the kids to do the undercover work, and so

          9  if you look this year, June through August, the

         10  compliance rate just for that intensified period

         11  also was in the mid-eighties percentage-wise. We

         12  conducted 2,700 inspections alone undercover during

         13  the summer months.

         14                 Borough-wide the compliance rate

         15  varied, as you might guess. For the last grant year,

         16  Staten Island had the highest compliance rate at 87

         17  percent, and Brooklyn was the lowest at 83 percent.

         18                 We also, thanks to some intelligence

         19  from the Department of Health, started looking at

         20  retailers around high schools to see whether we

         21  could learn something about compliance rate

         22  particularly in those sectors, and I think we

         23  learned a lot, depending upon where you're from, and

         24  we took a look overall -- excuse me one second. It

         25  looks like we broke it down.
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          2                 Chairman Reed, for example, we looked

          3  around the high school in your district, and there

          4  was a 62 percent compliance rate, three out of eight

          5  undercover stings resulted in a violation. Council

          6  Member Koppell, 100 percent; Council Member Davis,

          7  71 percent.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED: They're scared of

          9  him.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: I'm sorry?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED: They're scared of

         12  him. That's obvious.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: DCA has no

         14  opinion on that though.

         15                 Let's see, Council Member Liu, 59

         16  percent, four out of nine retailers surrounding the

         17  two high schools in your district, undercover stings

         18  resulted in a violation.

         19                 And Council Member Davis, did I

         20  mention 71 percent?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Seventy-one

         22  percent?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: What we

         24  did is we looked around the five high schools in

         25  your district and we did undercover operations in 31
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          2  retail establishments. Of the 31, only nine sold to

          3  a minor.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: All right. I've

          5  been monitoring that closely. Thank you.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Could you

          7  tell me the number of -- I'm delighted that all of

          8  our people complied, but could he --

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: Sure, I'll

         10  be happy to.

         11                 We also took a look around a few

         12  private high schools to see whether that was any

         13  different, and there we found the compliance rate at

         14  100 percent. We're still trying to analyze that data

         15  to see how that can impact on our enforcement in the

         16  future, clearly looking around high schools makes

         17  sense, both because compliance rates tend to be

         18  lower than Citywide averages, and because that's

         19  where the kids are.

         20                 We also took a look, as the Chairman

         21  mentioned, at the sale of loose cigarettes, or

         22  loosies, particularly with the increase in the tax

         23  of cigarettes, we wanted to make sure that we were

         24  on top of as much as we could within our

         25  jurisdiction, what impact that had on minors' access
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          2  to these cigarettes. The numbers are interesting.

          3                 Initially we looked in July, on July

          4  19th, and we found when we went to retailers that

          5  there was only a 52 percent compliance rate on not

          6  agreeing to the sale of a loosie upon request.

          7                 Ten days later, the compliance rate

          8  had jumped to 94 percent.

          9                 In August the numbers went down and

         10  the compliance rate was only 47 percent, but since

         11  then the numbers have been actually quite high, the

         12  sale of loose cigarettes no longer appears to be

         13  coming primarily from the vendors. In August, August

         14  8th, the compliance rate was 95 percent, on the 14th

         15  it was 91 percent. So we're having some impact on

         16  those sales in retail establishments. It's not to

         17  suggest that the sale of loose cigarettes has

         18  stopped.

         19                 In addition, I wanted to give you a

         20  little bit of an update on DCA's efforts in regard

         21  to revoking licenses for retail establishments that

         22  violate the law, as well as confiscation of

         23  cigarettes.

         24                 Since the Department has assumed

         25  responsibility for this power, there have been 109
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          2  establishments to have been adjudicated to have

          3  twice violated this law. As a result of that second

          4  violation we have the mandate to revoke their

          5  license, their City license, unless they can qualify

          6  for a particular waiver.

          7                 Of the 109, 95 of them have been

          8  revoked, and we have some more coming down the pike.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Right now it takes

         10  two violations. The first one you get a warning, is

         11  that it?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: No, no,

         13  no. The first one you get a steep fine. The second

         14  one they get a steep fine and we take the license

         15  away.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Yes.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: And we had

         18  a Filthy 50 press conference and we're gearing up

         19  toward another Filthy 50 press conference where

         20  we'll be announcing more revocations, and that's

         21  with the City license, not the state license.

         22                 We also have looked at unlicensed

         23  activity, and we have cited 229 stores for

         24  unlicensed activity since August 2000. The other

         25  thing that we do in regard to unlicensed retail sale
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          2  of cigarettes is we confiscate the cigarettes, and

          3  we have confiscated to date, at last count 11,871

          4  packs. So that made for an interesting press

          5  conference.

          6                 We handed it over to the Department

          7  of Finance who will auction off those cigarettes,

          8  and they expect the cigarettes will actually end up

          9  being repurchased by the manufacturers and then

         10  destroyed.

         11                 A couple of comments about the future

         12  and then I'm happy to answer any of your questions.

         13                 One of the things that we're doing to

         14  try to target our enforcement is to rejigger our

         15  schedule so that we are no longer just using the

         16  kids on the weekends and in the summer when it's

         17  easiest.

         18                 We are trying to do more mid-week

         19  inspections, undercover inspections as well, both to

         20  throw the retailers off, and truthfully also to try

         21  to eliminate some of the overtime on our budget, so

         22  we think it will make sense all the way around.

         23                 And lastly, there have been some

         24  changes in the State licensing law, and its impact

         25  on enforcement, which we are about to be briefed on
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          2  I believe Friday, so we'll learn a little bit more.

          3  Our sense is that they're going to be asking us to

          4  in fact inspect every retailer, rather than just the

          5  lower targeted numbers that they've had thus far,

          6  and the State also now is using a point system when

          7  it comes to whether a state license is also revoked.

          8                 If you ask me too many specific

          9  questions I'll go vague but I'll do my best. On the

         10  State's plan we haven't been briefed yet.

         11                 Those are sort of the numbers I

         12  thought would be most relevant to you all. I'm happy

         13  to try my best to answer your questions, and I have

         14  some able assistance as well.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very

         16  much. You have copies of your testimony?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: I don't,

         18  but we can certainly provide them.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Okay, that would be

         20  helpful.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: Sure.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED: You said that you

         23  were working with a grant from the State.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: Right. The

         25  grant comes through the City Department of Health
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          2  who then has a memorandum of understanding with DCA

          3  for the enforcement and the adjudication.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So it's specific to

          5  this issue of illegal sales?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ:  Correct.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And speak more to

          8  the issue of adjudication about this.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: Well, when

         10  we serve notice of a violation, the matter can be

         11  heard and is heard in our administrative tribunal.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So then you give

         13  them the fine, and then the second time you're

         14  revoking the license?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: Correct.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: We don't have to go

         17  to court, we don't have to do any of that?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: Not on

         19  this issue.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I see, right.

         21                 I have several questions but I know

         22  my colleagues wanted to ask you some others, so I'll

         23  hold those.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: If I could

         25  just add one thing. The reason that we can hear this
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          2  matter is because we license retail, cigarette

          3  retailers. That's duplicative. That's why, we have

          4  the authority because of our licensing authority.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I guess what I'm

          6  trying to understand, and you're new so many others

          7  will be able to answer, but we've been looking at

          8  the whole issue of collecting fines, and I know

          9  there's an issue that we've been talking and working

         10  with your Department, about trying to get you

         11  hearing authority and all of that.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: Right.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So in this

         14  particular case, you're saying -- that's what I'm

         15  asking, you say you have the authority to do this

         16  and to collect the fine?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: We have

         18  hearing authority in this case because we license

         19  this category. We don't have docketing authority in

         20  any category. So, while we have the opportunity to

         21  collect, we don't have the opportunity to enforce

         22  collection without going to the State Court system.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So do we know if

         24  we're actually collecting this money? What is the

         25  fine again?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: Our

          3  compliance rate is -- I think our payment rate is

          4  quite good. The fine is $1,000 for the first

          5  violation.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Identify yourself.

          7                 MS. MULLINGS: My name is Pansy

          8  Mullings, Head of Enforcement. We had the ability to

          9  suspend the license if they don't pay the fine, so

         10  that's why in this area our compliance rate is

         11  fairly high.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I see. That makes

         13  sense. Thank you.

         14                 I think Council Member Koppell.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you.

         16  Just a brief question.

         17                 You had mentioned that you had

         18  discovered 100 percent compliance by retailers in

         19  the vicinity of high schools in my district; do you

         20  know how many retailers you visited?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: We visited

         22  eight retailers in your district.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Do you know

         24  where they were?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: I can get

                                                            16

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  you that information. I don't have it with me.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: If you could

          4  send to my district office a little note with that

          5  information?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: We'd be

          7  happy to.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Maybe I can

          9  congratulate the retailers or something like that.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: It's a

         11  great idea.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay, thank

         13  you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Council Member

         15  Davis.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Similar. You

         17  said 71 percent in my district, five schools.

         18  Seventy-one percent, you visited how many schools?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: If I'm

         20  right, you're District 35; is that right?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: 35th

         22  Councilmanic District, yes, sir.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: Okay. We

         24  visited 31 --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Thirty-one
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          2  schools.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: No, no,

          4  no, I'm sorry. Thirty-one different retail

          5  establishments around five high schools, and the

          6  five high schools that I have on my list are

          7  Brooklyn Tech, Clair Barton, Brooklyn College, and

          8  Medgar Evers, Prospect Heights.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Not Brooklyn

         10  College?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: Oh.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Medgar Evers

         13  College High School?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: Medgar

         15  Evers High School, sorry.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Prospect

         17  Heights.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: Prospect

         19  Heights, and the alternative Brooklyn International

         20  High School.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Okay.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: Did we

         23  miss one?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: No, no. Clara

         25  Barton you didn't say, did you?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: I did,

          3  yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Clara Barton.

          5  Just 71 percent, out of the ones, the 31 retailers,

          6  the ones that failed, what did you do about it?

          7  That's what I want to know.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: We cited

          9  them. We cited them for illegal sale of tobacco to a

         10  minor, and they have been given a hearing date.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Similar to

         12  Oliver, I just want to follow up on those

         13  individuals, I want to monitor them closely.

         14                 Did you notify the schools, the

         15  principals of each high school that you were, you

         16  know, coming in?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: We didn't

         18  go into the high school.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: I know. This

         20  effort was going forth?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: I don't

         22  think so, no. I don't think we did contact the

         23  principals.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Do you think

         25  that might something, a good idea to work along and
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          2  think along prevention?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: It's an

          4  interesting question because you want to balance the

          5  interest of effective undercover enforcement with

          6  reaching out. It's a great idea. I mean, you might

          7  want to find out from the principals whether they

          8  have a sense of where people are getting cigarettes,

          9  where minors are getting cigarettes in that area.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: And as a

         11  retired police officer, do you work this undercover

         12  operation in any way with the local precinct?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: I'm going

         14  to let Pansy Mullings get more specific here.

         15                 MS. MULLINGS: Basically we use two

         16  Consumer Affairs inspectors. Basically you go in the

         17  store, the minor walks in, requests to buy

         18  cigarettes. If the person sells them the cigarettes

         19  the minor then leaves and goes to where the car is

         20  parked and then we cite the person. We don't bring

         21  the minor back when we're writing the violation. If

         22  the minor is asked their age or anything then they

         23  just walk out.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: I never worked

         25  in this particular -- when I was a cop, I never did
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          2  this particular detail; did the police force also

          3  have access to --

          4                 MS. MULLINGS: The police force from

          5  time to time does the cigarettes but mainly they do

          6  the selling of beer to minors.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Selling the

          8  beer. Okay, I want to commend you again for this

          9  effort, in addition to this effort, the beer and the

         10  toy guns. Can't stress those, in the district with

         11  these toy guns, but, again, I just want to commend

         12  you. Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED: We've also been

         14  joined by John Liu from Queens, and think Council

         15  Member Liu, you had a question?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you, Mr.

         17  Chairman.

         18                 I want to commend the strenuous work

         19  that the Department of Consumer Affairs has been

         20  providing the residents of this City. Thank you very

         21  much.

         22                 I do have a few questions, Mr. Chair.

         23  I think they're all pretty brief. One is, when you

         24  say you can revoke the license, that's really just

         25  the license to sell cigarettes. They would still
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          2  stay in business, the stores?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: Correct.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay.

          5                 And presumably they could still sell

          6  the cigarettes illegally, without the license?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: Well,

          8  certainly when we revoke a license we know to target

          9  our follow-up enforcement to make sure that people

         10  don't continue to engage in what would then be

         11  unlicensed activity. It's an additional violation.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: So do you have a

         13  good idea of how much illegal vending of cigarettes

         14  exists? Not illegal in the sense of selling to

         15  minors, but illegal because they're not licensed to

         16  sell cigarettes?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: Yes. We

         18  conducted since January of this year, we conducted

         19  7,620 inspections, and found 229 stores that were --

         20  that did not have a license to sell tobacco at all,

         21  and they were, so we cited them for unlicensed

         22  activity.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Can you repeat --

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: Yes. Of

         25  7,620 inspections, 229 stores were cited for
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          2  unlicensed sale of tobacco, period.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: How many of those

          4  7,600 stores did not have a license to sell tobacco,

          5  or were all of those?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: 229.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Well, okay. That

          8  in and of itself would not be a good result. How

          9  many of the 7,600 stores that you paid a visit to

         10  did the inspection were licensed to sell cigarettes?

         11  Let me make it easier.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: You mean

         13  previously?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: That's correct.

         15  Out of the 7,600 stores that you conducted an

         16  inspection at, how many of those 7,600 had a license

         17  to sell cigarettes?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: Well,

         19  according to my handy mathematicians, that would be

         20  7,351.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Well, then you're

         22  only saying about -- you're saying about 250 of them

         23  did not have the license to sell cigarettes, and all

         24  250 of them were selling cigarettes.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: Correct.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Well, then my

          3  point is that you need to have, that's a 100 percent

          4  noncompliance rate to me; do you understand what I'm

          5  saying?

          6                 There are a lot of stores out there

          7  who are not licensed to sell cigarettes.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: Right. But

          9  the rate would be, and, again, I don't have my

         10  calculator with me, but the rate would be dividing

         11  229 by 7,620, wouldn't it?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: I'm not trying to

         13  criticize anything that's being done here. I'm

         14  trying to understand the magnitude of the problem

         15  that we have, and the question in my mind right now

         16  is how many establishments are out there selling

         17  cigarettes without the proper license from Consumer

         18  Affairs?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Could I interject

         20  here for a minute?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Frankly, I'm a

         23  little bit confused myself.

         24                 So, you're saying that your

         25  enforcement agents randomly went into 7,600 stores,
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          2  right?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: Correct.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And went to

          5  purchase cigarettes or went to look to see if you

          6  have a license, or the store had a license?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: Right. As

          8  a separate investigatory issue, not just are they

          9  selling to minors, but do they have a license or

         10  not?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So you went in

         12  randomly to 7,600 stores. Of that, 229 of them sold

         13  you cigarettes and you realized they did not have a

         14  license for the sale?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: Right.

         16  Correct. All the rest of them did have a license.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: So that means

         18  that there are no -- that means that even all of the

         19  stores that are not licensed are still selling

         20  cigarettes anyway?

         21                 MS. MULLINGS: After we issue the

         22  violation for not being licensed, once they're

         23  adjudicated and found guilty, we then go back and if

         24  they're still selling cigarettes, we then padlock,

         25  meaning we confiscate the cigarettes, and that's
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          2  where our confiscation number comes from.

          3                 So, we don't let them continue to

          4  operate if they don't have a license.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay, I

          6  understand that part. Let me clarify. I'm trying to

          7  understand the process because I think this is a

          8  very important issue in this City, the regulation of

          9  cigarette sales, as well as the enforcement against

         10  sales to minors. I think it's very important, and I

         11  commend the chair for having this kind of hearing,

         12  and I really do want to understand the process,

         13  because I think by us understanding the process, we

         14  will have a more solid base on which to consider

         15  additional legislation if need be.

         16                 When you talk about padlock, you're

         17  not actually talking about closing the establishment

         18  down.

         19                 MS. MULLINGS: No.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: You're simply

         21  talking about confiscation of the goods.

         22                 MS. MULLINGS: Confiscation of the

         23  goods. For cigarettes it would mean ceasing the

         24  cigarettes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Right.
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          2                 MS. MULLINGS: And we take the

          3  cigarettes, if the person comes back and becomes

          4  licensed, pays the fine, we give them back their

          5  cigarettes. In many cases we find that a lot of

          6  people have the State license but don't have the

          7  City license.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay. So, getting

          9  back to what I was trying to understand, it sounds

         10  like to me, and tell me if I'm wrong, or maybe a

         11  study can be conducted, but I think we need to look

         12  at establishments that do not have a license to sell

         13  cigarettes and see how many of them actually are

         14  randomly select, say 100 or 200 retail

         15  establishments that might look like they're selling

         16  cigarettes but don't have the license, and see how

         17  many of those are actually selling cigarettes

         18  illegally. Because from the 7,600, it's not the

         19  7,600 I'm interested in, it's that, you said roughly

         20  250 of that 7,600, out of the 250, those

         21  establishments are not licensed to sell cigarettes,

         22  and yet, out of those 250, which are random, to the

         23  extent that you had in your study, 229 of them are

         24  selling cigarettes. And, so, that's a 92 percent

         25  noncompliance rate.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: I think

          3  that what's confusing is that at one point the

          4  number 299 was estimated as the number 250. I would

          5  take 250 out of the discussion and say that when we

          6  did exactly what you suggested would be a good idea

          7  which was take a look at stores and only ask

          8  ourselves the questions, if you're selling

          9  cigarettes, do you have a City license?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Right, that's the

         11  question.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: That's the

         13  question. And, so, we asked that of 7,620 stores.

         14  The answer was 229 of them did not, the rest did.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: And,

         17  therefore, of those that did not, the 229, all of

         18  them have been cited and all of them are winding

         19  their way through our adjudicative process. Does

         20  that help?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Yes, that's very

         22  helpful.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: Great.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: That's very

         25  helpful.
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          2                 All right. I actually didn't mean to

          3  spend so much time on that. I wanted to talk about

          4  the problem of selling cigarettes to minors, because

          5  that is a serious issue.

          6                 Does DCA have anything to do with the

          7  advertisement on billboards near schools?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: No, we

          9  don't. Although, if I'm right we may have something

         10  to say about how it's advertised in the store; is

         11  that accurate? It's not accurate. The answer is no.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay. And then --

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: That would

         14  probably come under the Department, my guess is

         15  Department of Health.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Last question,

         17  Mr. Chair.

         18                 Getting back to my own district. I

         19  find that 59 percent compliance rate to be

         20  completely unacceptable. I'd like to ask you to give

         21  me the list of the non-compliant establishments and

         22  I will personally visit them to make sure that

         23  they're doing the right thing.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: That would

         25  be great. And I can assure you that we'll be
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          2  visiting them again, too.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: And I aspire to

          4  Oliver Koppell's district in terms of compliance.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: We're

          6  going to look for his secret as well.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you, Council

          8  Member Liu.

          9                 I'm assuming that if you have a City

         10  license, you also have to have a State license?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: Correct.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So this is really

         13  just about revenue?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: Well,

         15  currently the City and State have different

         16  approaches to enforcing the illegal sale of

         17  cigarettes to minors, and my sense of the recent

         18  changes to the State law is that it will bring the

         19  two into closer compliance.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: That is the State

         21  Law that's recently changed?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: It changes

         23  the trigger as to when a State license is revoked.

         24  We don't revoke State licenses currently. We only

         25  have the authority to revoke City licenses.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: You can actually

          3  padlock the business for doing this, right?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: Right.

          5  Which in this context, because we only license the

          6  cigarette sale, actually means --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED: It's little

          8  consolation to be able to keep your State license if

          9  your store is bolted shut.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: But,

         11  again, just to be clear, we can only padlock in this

         12  context by confiscating the cigarettes. We don't

         13  license the establishment itself, we license the

         14  activity of selling the cigarettes. So, in this

         15  context, again, padlocking is confiscating, which

         16  gets their attention.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED: When you go into

         18  the store, Ms. Mullings, you said that there were

         19  two enforcement agents, that's not what we're

         20  talking about as the teenagers, so there's three

         21  people, right?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So the two

         24  enforcement agents are waiting outside --

         25                 MS. MULLINGS: Inside.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: They're in the

          3  store as well. So, they witness this whole thing?

          4                 MS. MULLINGS: They witness the whole

          5  thing.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So they're

          7  undercover as well?

          8                 MS. MULLINGS: Right. So that way the

          9  minor doesn't have to testify.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well, that was my

         11  question, because I know some of the vendors have

         12  complained that there is really not an opportunity

         13  for them to confront the person who is supposedly

         14  asked for the cigarettes. You're saying that these

         15  two park -- park, excuse me -- enforcement personnel

         16  are the ones who testify as to what was and wasn't

         17  said?

         18                 MS. MULLINGS: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And the reason that

         20  you don't want the teenager, the quote teenager, to

         21  be involved, and that is?

         22                 MS. MULLINGS: Is, one, the parents of

         23  the teenagers would probably not have their children

         24  partake in this program if their children were going

         25  to testify. There's always a certain amount of fear
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          2  that if you testify against somebody and they're

          3  going to lose their license, that there may be

          4  certain acts taken against the minor, whether it's

          5  real or not but it's perceived fear of that, so,

          6  therefore, by having the inspectors there, they're

          7  there to testify.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: Also I

          9  think relevant to the subject is that the appearance

         10  of the minor is not a legal defense, so the issue of

         11  they look 21, they look 22, you don't impinge upon

         12  anyone's rights by not letting them see the face of

         13  the child, the youth again. It doesn't matter what

         14  they look like.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED: How much are these

         16  -- just somehow "undercover agents" sounds too deep

         17  for me, but how much are these young people paid?

         18                 MS. MULLINGS: I believe it's 7.75 an

         19  hour.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And their

         21  recruitment, how does that go -- how do you do that?

         22                 MS. MULLINGS: In fact, we're glad you

         23  asked because we're in the process of recruiting

         24  people, so we hope to send the information to your

         25  offices and hopefully you'll help us. We're looking
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          2  for 15, 16 and 17 year olds, and we have a training

          3  program for them and we train them as to how to do

          4  it and then we work on weekends and after school

          5  holidays and full-time during the summer.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Does the owner of

          7  the store you were talking about, where you went to

          8  all of these stores, 7,600 of them, is this like

          9  across the board? How do you pick the stores? I

         10  mean, is it Duane Reade sells cigarettes, but the

         11  bodega sells cigarettes, how do you decide? Do you

         12  just go into a neighborhood and just start going

         13  into retail shops?

         14                 MS. MULLINGS: There are several ways

         15  we do it. One way, we have a list of everybody who

         16  is registered, who has a license with Consumer

         17  Affairs, so we go through that list and try to

         18  schedule it.

         19                 We also will just walk in an area and

         20  walk down the block in every store that we see that

         21  appears to be selling cigarettes, every newsstand

         22  have the minor go up to talk to them. Under the new

         23  grant it seems we will have to attempt to go into

         24  every store that we license at least once in the

         25  grant period, which is October 1st to September
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          2  30th.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Is there any

          4  correlation with the work that you do with the

          5  Department of Finance, in terms of the tax revenue

          6  that we're getting from these stores in correlating

          7  the sale of cigarettes? Does any of that go on?

          8                 MS. MULLINGS: The correlation is if

          9  we find cigarettes that are intact, we notify the

         10  Department of Finance. When we did our confiscation

         11  and the Department of Finance was here, Commissioner

         12  Stark checked over actually the cigarettes and was

         13  surprised to find that the overwhelming percentage

         14  of them were all tax cigarettes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Why was she

         16  surprised?

         17                 MS. MULLINGS: Well, she thought --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED: She bought them

         19  from the manufacturer, et cetera, et cetera, you

         20  think?

         21                 MS. MULLINGS: Well, she thought

         22  because these were unlicensed cigarettes that they

         23  may be bootleg cigarettes that people were selling.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So, the

         25  manufacturer, the distributor doesn't have any
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          2  responsibility to see that a person has a license to

          3  sell cigarettes before they distribute them to them?

          4                 MS. MULLINGS: The wholesaler is

          5  required to do it.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: The wholesaler.

          7                 MS. MULLINGS: The wholesaler.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED: That's the person

          9  who gets the cigarettes to the store?

         10                 MS. MULLINGS: From the manufacturer.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: My

         12  understanding is they're also referred to as the

         13  stampers; is that right? They're the ones who buy

         14  the tax stamp.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED: The wholesaler buys

         16  the tax stamp. And that person, he or she is

         17  responsible for getting them to the little bodega on

         18  the corner?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: I believe

         20  it's called a subjobber (phonetic). It seems the

         21  subjobber are the ones who may be the ones who were

         22  selling it, or that the bodegas themselves may be

         23  selling it to each other without checking the

         24  license?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well, shouldn't we
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          2  be then going after distributors -- it's my

          3  understanding you're saying the distributor is

          4  responsible for making sure that -- I mean the

          5  wholesaler is responsible for making sure that the

          6  person that they sell the cigarettes to at a

          7  wholesale price has both the City license and the

          8  State license. And, so, these 229 people, and the

          9  ones that you've pointed out to my colleague, about

         10  the cigarettes, you said the Commissioner of Finance

         11  was surprised to see most of them had a tax stamp,

         12  so shouldn't we be going after that wholesaler for

         13  not living up to their responsibility?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: I think

         15  what you're saying makes a lot of sense. I would

         16  urge you to discuss it with Commissioner Stark who I

         17  think knows far more about that chain than we do. We

         18  would be poaching, I think if we answered too many

         19  questions in this regard.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Yes, but I mean it

         21  seems to me that would put a much bigger dent in

         22  what we're trying to do.

         23                 Is there a difference between a

         24  wholesaler and a distributor?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: I honestly
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          2  don't know.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED: It would seem to me

          4  we would be putting a lot bigger dent in this

          5  business if they just knew there was an aggressive

          6  enforcement component, and that in fact we might

          7  shut down their whole wholesale operation, not just

          8  the poor guy on the corner who may or may not know,

          9  which is my next question, in terms of employees in

         10  there.

         11                 I mean, have we done training with

         12  all these bodegas, and so how do we know that --

         13  you're giving the violation to the owner of the

         14  store, right? What percentage of them are

         15  owner/operator, for instance; do we know that? Or

         16  most of them say --

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: That

         18  number I don't know. Certainly most of what we hear

         19  is that it was an employee. I should point out that

         20  one of the ways in the enforcement of the City

         21  license, that a second-time adjudicated violator can

         22  have their license not automatically revoked is if

         23  they can establish a training protocol for their

         24  employees.

         25                 If it's a bonafide system, if they,
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          2  the owner, weren't the ones who made the sale but it

          3  really was an issue of training employees, and they

          4  can step forward with that plan, City law gives them

          5  one more bite at the apple.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And when you say

          7  the license is revoked, revoked for how long?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: We don't

          9  allow anyone to reapply for a year.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Yes, we've been

         11  joined by Council Member Joseph Addabbo, from

         12  Queens.

         13                 I think, Council Member Davis, you

         14  had another question?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Thank you.

         16                 First let me, you might want to share

         17  with Councilman Addabbo his district?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: You know,

         19  I'm afraid I don't have those numbers with me.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Okay.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: I'm sorry.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well, somewhere

         23  between Council Member Koppell, who is at 100

         24  percent, and Liu who is in the 50s, so somewhere in

         25  between you fall in there, right.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Okay, what

          3  concerns me about that is -- so now I'm just going

          4  to ask a couple of questions and try to find out why

          5  does one Councilman's area come in at 100 percent,

          6  and another one's come in at 50 percent and

          7  another's 70 percent and so on and so forth.

          8                 Possibly, possibly because of the

          9  lack of oversight by DCA, possibly, retailers feel

         10  that they can get away with it in one neighborhood,

         11  as opposed to another community.

         12                 Now, you did 7,600, that was your

         13  random survey study, correct?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: Yes. Thus

         15  far this year.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: This year.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: Thus far.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: How many stores

         19  are licensed to sell?

         20                 MS. MULLINGS: Somewhere between 12

         21  and 13,000.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Twelve and

         23  13,000, and you did 7,600 this year. Now, are there

         24  any numbers to break down whether or not -- I'm

         25  trying to find out whether more was done -- did you

                                                            40

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  break it down as far as Brooklyn and Manhattan,

          3  Staten Island, Bronx, Queens, do you have the

          4  breakdown?  In this 7,600, do you have the number

          5  specifically for Brooklyn?

          6                 MS. MULLINGS: Yes, in Brooklyn we did

          7  2,907, and of those 2,907, 498 sold to minors.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Okay, 2,907 and

          9  498 sold to minors.

         10                 Manhattan, please?

         11                 MS. MULLINGS: Manhattan, 386.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: 386 but how --

         13                 MS. MULLINGS: Out of 2,789.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: 2,789.

         15                 Staten Island?

         16                 MS. MULLINGS: Staten Island, 57 out

         17  of 445.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: So you only

         19  targeted Staten Island 479 times?

         20                 MS. MULLINGS: 445.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: 445. Is that

         22  probably because less -- why because less retailers?

         23  I won't touch that right now.

         24                 Bronx?

         25                 MS. MULLINGS: 268 out of 1,797.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: 1,700 --

          3                 MS. MULLINGS: And 97.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: That's all the

          5  times you went to the Bronx?

          6                 MS. MULLINGS: Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: And Queens?

          8                 MS. MULLINGS: 344 out of 2,230.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Okay, now,

         10  that's my numbers as far as borough breakdown. Of

         11  course you don't have the target, you probably don't

         12  have, maybe you do, as far as income breakdown. I

         13  don't know if you know where I'm trying to go, as

         14  far as upper class, middle, lower class, middle

         15  income, lower income, upper income, I'm trying to

         16  see whether or not the retailers are targeting

         17  various neighborhoods, and the retailers may say,

         18  well, I'm in a white neighborhood so there's more

         19  oversight by DCA, so I can't get away with it, but

         20  I'm over here in this aging community or this

         21  Hispanic community or this black community, and

         22  because there's not as much oversight by DCA,

         23  perhaps I can get away with it more.

         24                 So, I just want to make sure that the

         25  retailers, the message is sent clear to the
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          2  retailers that DCA is going to monitor you across

          3  the board.

          4                 So, you don't have numbers broke down

          5  as far as white neighborhood, or Asian community or

          6  Hispanic community?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: No, we

          8  haven't broken it down that way. We may be able to

          9  take some indicators to try to do it that way.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Take a look --

         11  I would encourage you to take a look, go back

         12  because you do have it by Council district --

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: Right.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Take a look and

         15  see if perhaps the retailers are targeting various

         16  neighborhoods based on income. They may be targeting

         17  various neighborhoods based on race, and there may

         18  be a way of helping us to identify and being taught

         19  going after those particular retailers.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: I think

         21  those would be helpful sources of information.

         22                 On a more limited scale, we had

         23  talked a little bit earlier about our high school

         24  sweeps and did in fact find that, I mean we only

         25  took a look at a few of the private high schools,
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          2  we're more interested in the public schools, but

          3  around the private high schools the compliance rate

          4  was 100 percent, and so --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: And private

          6  high schools are usually higher income

          7  neighborhoods, communities, and that's very

          8  interesting.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: Yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

         11                 Council Member Liu I think has the

         12  final question on this subject.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Talking about the

         14  fines that you're able to levy, I know some of the

         15  fines that DCA levies has to be in proportion to the

         16  cost of enforcement.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: No. I

         18  think what you might be referring to is that our

         19  license fee has to be linked to administrative

         20  overhead.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay, so there is

         22  no restriction on the levy of the fine, as long as

         23  it's in the administrative code?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: We're

         25  right with you. We're thinking about increasing
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          2  fines as well.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Especially for

          4  repeat offenders we need to really dramatically

          5  increase those fines.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: We have

          7  actually just finished an internal review of our

          8  fine structure and are looking both at increasing

          9  fines in general to account for inflation, and then

         10  more importantly to do exactly what you suggest,

         11  which is to make sure that increasing violations

         12  exponentially increases the fines.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Again, we're not

         14  trying to hit people over the head the first time,

         15  or perhaps even the second time, but if it's clear,

         16  they're going to flaunt the law, it's got to be

         17  exponential.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: We found

         19  thus far that the revocation after a second

         20  violation is more effective than any fine, but

         21  that's not to say we're not also reviewing the

         22  fines.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED: You're welcome,

         25  Council Member Liu.
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          2                 It was pointed out to me that the

          3  first violation for selling cigarettes to minors, is

          4  that different than selling cigarettes without a

          5  license?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED: But the first

          8  violation for selling them to a minor is $1,000 and

          9  the second one is $2,000. So that's a fairly steep

         10  increase.

         11                 What is the fine for selling them

         12  without a license?

         13                 MS. MULLINGS: That is $100 a day

         14  until you get the license.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED: A hundred dollars a

         16  day.

         17                 MS. MULLINGS: Each day you're

         18  unlicensed.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED: All right. So, you

         20  find that I've been selling cigarettes illegally and

         21  I say I'm going to stop doing that, that doesn't

         22  count?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: We have a

         24  presumption -- if you go to hearing, if you don't

         25  settle earlier, if you go to hearing, we have a
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          2  presumption that you have continued to engage every

          3  day since the violation in unlicensed activity up

          4  until the hearing, unless you can prove otherwise.

          5                 We also, by the way, reinspect during

          6  that period of time in order to bolster our case.

          7                 MS. MULLINGS: I mean, if someone is

          8  unlicensed we explain to them that if they come and

          9  get a license that stops the fine, they don't have

         10  to wait til the day of the hearing to come in.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And all you have to

         12  do is go down to DCA and apply for it and pay some

         13  fee for the license, and that's it, that's done?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: Plus the

         15  fine. Correct.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I see. All right,

         17  thank you all very much for coming.

         18                 Unless you have anything else?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: My

         20  pleasure.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Commissioner Mintz,

         22  am I saying it right?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MINTZ: Mintz,

         24  right.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Welcome. Thank you.
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          2                 Our second order of business today is

          3  the discussion of proposed Introduction 257-A, a

          4  local law that would restrict the use of mobile

          5  telephones in a place of public performance.

          6                 As many of you know, the Committee

          7  held an initial hearing on this legislation on

          8  September 24. At that time we heard from the

          9  Administration, as well as several relevant advocacy

         10  and professional groups.

         11                 We received supportive statements and

         12  constructive criticism from the League of American

         13  Theaters and Producers, Actors Equity, the National

         14  Association of Theater Owners, the 92nd Street Y and

         15  Community Board 5.

         16                 We also received a statement in

         17  opposition from representatives of the cellular

         18  phone industry; isn't that a surprise. Since the

         19  24th we have revised portions of the bill to reflect

         20  much of this public testimony.

         21                 In summary, we have made five major

         22  changes. 1) We revised the definition of the term

         23  "use of a mobile phone" to include "receiving a

         24  mobile telephone call signaled by an audible sound."

         25                 The previous definition of "use" only
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          2  reached audience members who actually spoke on their

          3  phones during performances.

          4                 The overwhelming majority of our

          5  witnesses stated that patrons who receive in-coming

          6  telephone calls are problematic as well.

          7                 Personal experience bears out this

          8  observation, as we felt this was a change worth

          9  making. Significantly it allows audience members to

         10  keep their phones mute or vibrate if they're

         11  expecting an important call.

         12                 Number two. We revised the definition

         13  of "a place of public performance" to mean the

         14  actual room where a show or film or lecture takes

         15  place, as opposed to the lobby or any other space in

         16  a theater.

         17                 Again, this change was suggested by

         18  witness testimonies, and I think it allows audience

         19  members to use their cell phones when it is

         20  necessary to do so, without disrupting a performance

         21  that is taking place.

         22                 Number three. Next, the definition of

         23  "a place of public performance" has been revised to

         24  specifically exclude "outdoor areas or venues in

         25  which sporting events are taking place."
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          2                 Audience members attending events in

          3  these types of venues are less likely to have an

          4  expectation of absolute silence. Consequently, it

          5  would be overly restrictive to prohibit mobile phone

          6  use in these areas.

          7                 Fourth, the prohibition on cell phone

          8  use has been limited to places of public

          9  performance, while a theatrical musical motion

         10  picture or other performance is taking place.

         11                 This is fairly common sense. It

         12  allows audience members to use their phones before

         13  and after performances to ensure that they will not

         14  ruin the actual event as it -- but ensures that they

         15  will not ruin the actual event as it takes place.

         16                 It also clarifies that the people who

         17  work in public performance spaces won't face any

         18  trouble for using their mobile phones during the

         19  workday.

         20                 Finally, we've revised the

         21  legislation so that theater owners can inform their

         22  patrons on the prohibitions on cell phone use

         23  through a variety of means, announcements, signs,

         24  printed notices, et cetera.

         25                 Previously the legislation required
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          2  notice through signage only. This was a change

          3  suggested by some of our witnesses and allows the

          4  theater owners to decide which type of notice makes

          5  the most sense for their particular venue.

          6                 Other components of the bill remain

          7  the same. Most notably that a violation of the law

          8  carries a $50 civil penalty.

          9                 We also received a lot of questions

         10  about enforcement during our hearing on the 24th.

         11  I'd like to make two comments on these issues.

         12                 First a technical one. This

         13  legislation would become part of the existing noise

         14  control code which already includes a specific

         15  subchapter on enforcement.

         16                 The provisions of that subchapter

         17  would apply to this proposed legislation as well,

         18  making it just as easy or difficult for City

         19  employees to enforce as any other section of the

         20  current noise control code.

         21                 I'd like to stress that theater

         22  owners, managers or other employees would not be

         23  required to enforce this new law.

         24                 More significantly I'd like to

         25  suggest that the very existence of this law would
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          2  encourage audience members to monitor their own

          3  behavior.

          4                 As several witnesses testified during

          5  our hearing last month, individuals are far more

          6  likely to comply with the theaters no cell phone

          7  policy when it is backed up by a notice of City law.

          8                 In that way it's similar to laws

          9  prohibiting smoking in certain areas, or laws

         10  requiring citizens to clean up after their dogs, or

         11  any of the other quality of life provisions.

         12                 People are simply more likely to

         13  behave responsibly when they know they can get

         14  reprimanded or fined for their actions.

         15                 Ultimately responsible behavior is

         16  what we're trying to encourage through this

         17  legislation. I know we have some interested members

         18  of the public who are here today to discuss this

         19  bill. I'd like to thank them for attending the

         20  hearing and your patience with the first part of our

         21  hearing today and ask that several of you come

         22  forward. And I don't know if you've come in groups.

         23                 I have -- no, that's the other

         24  hearing we had. Just a minute. Good, so we just have

         25  one panel. Susan Martin, represents Local 306. I'm
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          2  told that's the ushers. Oh, four people. Can we get

          3  a fourth chair up there, please?

          4                 Gordon Forbes, the Association of

          5  Theatrical Press Agents and Managers; Zalina

          6  Hoosein. Yes? Please. Welcome. Actors Equity. And

          7  William Moriarity of Local 802, which I know is the

          8  Musicians Union.

          9                 If you have written testimony, that

         10  you have copies, she will distribute it. If not,

         11  that's fine. And I don't have any particular order,

         12  other than the one I read off. So, unless anybody

         13  has an objection, are you Miss Martin? Yes. Maybe

         14  you'll start. You need to tell us your name and your

         15  affiliation, and please begin.

         16                 MS. MARTIN: Okay. My name is Susan

         17  Martin. I'm the business representative for Local

         18  306. I represent the ushers, ticket takers, back

         19  stage doormen, and in addition to that some

         20  cleaners, some bartenders, et cetera. And by and

         21  large it's my membership that will be  I guess

         22  reminding the public to keep their cell phones

         23  turned off and their beepers, and I have to tell you

         24  that I had a tough time deciding whether or not I

         25  was going to come out in favor of this, and I have.
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          2                 I think that -- well, I've been

          3  witnessing some instances where cell phones have

          4  gone off during the performance and the patrons have

          5  carried on conversations in the middle of the show,

          6  and we heard all about how she hadn't gone shopping

          7  at Lohman's that day, that she was right there in

          8  the middle of a Broadway show and the actor, after

          9  losing patience, yelled at her to shut the phone

         10  off.

         11                 I think it's disruptive, as well as

         12  annoying, you know, and it's not just to the actors

         13  on stage or the ushers in the theater, it also

         14  affects the audience itself, and I think it would be

         15  helpful for legislation to remind them to shut their

         16  machines off so that, you know, they can, the rest

         17  of us can enjoy the performance in the manner it was

         18  made to be presented.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very

         20  much.

         21                 Mr. Forbes.

         22                 MR. FORBES: Hi. My name is Gordon

         23  Forbes. I represent the Association of Theatrical

         24  Press Agents and Managers, a professional

         25  association. Among the employees that we represent
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          2  on Broadway are the house managers of all the

          3  Broadway theaters who, along with the front of house

          4  staff that Susan represents are typically in the

          5  front line of enforcing whatever etiquette needs to

          6  be enforced in theaters, most notably stopping the

          7  use of flash cameras and video recordings. Sometimes

          8  that's not an easy task. Often the public can be

          9  extremely combative and our members are very

         10  concerned about what their responsibilities are in

         11  terms of in various enforcement issues.

         12                 I think you addressed that in your

         13  opening remarks, and what the enforcement

         14  responsibilities will be. And we circulated the

         15  proposed legislation to our membership recently and

         16  got a very healthy response from the membership,

         17  both by e-mail and the telephone, and it was

         18  overwhelmingly quite supportive of the legislation,

         19  the only issue they raised was their concerns about

         20  their personal responsibilities for enforcement, on

         21  top of all their other duties, and those seem to

         22  have been addressed in the meanwhile.

         23                 One other issue they did raise was

         24  they thought that perhaps the fines were a little

         25  inadequate based on the economics of today.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very

          3  much. Ms. Hoosein. Am I saying that correctly?

          4                 MS. HOOSEIN: Zalina Hoosein.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Hoosein.

          6                 MS. HOOSEIN: Hi. I'm Senior Business

          7  Representative at Actors Equity Association, and I

          8  represent mostly the actors who work in the

          9  not-for-profit theaters in New York City and around

         10  the country but were primarily I guess focused on

         11  New York City and the Metropolitan area today.

         12                 Actors Equity, of course,

         13  overwhelmingly supports this legislature (sic)

         14  you're trying to put in because we are concerned

         15  about protecting the actors on stage.

         16                 In the few instances that I've had to

         17  deal with New York City, I am concerned also of the

         18  actors who are forced to respond or deal with the

         19  audience member who is not, even when announcements

         20  I made, because I came in at the tail end of Mr.

         21  Reed speaking of the enforcement of the $50 fine,

         22  and unfortunately, I don't think that leaving that

         23  to the audience member alone will be satisfactory or

         24  will really work, especially in the not-for-profit

         25  area.
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          2                 I think the commercial theater it

          3  will, but the not-for-profit area, the situation is

          4  that the theater managers sometimes are hesitant to

          5  sort of get into a hassle with their audiences

          6  because they rely on their subscription and they're

          7  concerned, and if they're to instruct an audience

          8  member to stop talking on the phone that that person

          9  will not renew their subscription and as a result

         10  they can't continue to rely on that income.

         11                 I've had at least three or four

         12  situations recently where the actor was forced to

         13  break character, and it's not easy, you know, when

         14  you're doing Shakespeare to try to break character

         15  and deal with an audience member, especially when in

         16  more than one case people actually took more than

         17  one phone call during that play.

         18                 So, certainly we're very interested

         19  in supporting this and our membership. We have about

         20  16,000 actors in the New York Metropolitan area who

         21  are very excited about us following through on this.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very

         24  much.

         25                 Mr. Moriarity.
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          2                 MR. MORIARITY: Good afternoon. I'm

          3  Bill Moriarity. I'm the president of Local 802, the

          4  Musicians Union. Thanks to Chairman Reed and the

          5  members of the Committee for allowing us to testify

          6  here today.

          7                 I represent about 10,000 musicians in

          8  New York City, they work on Broadway, they work at

          9  Lincoln Center, they work in freelance orchestras

         10  and in various venues around the City.

         11                 We are supporting Intro. 257-A in its

         12  current form to restrict the use of mobile

         13  telephones in places of public performance.

         14                 Live performance is somewhat fragile

         15  art requiring concentration on both the part of the

         16  performers and on the part of the audience, and

         17  certainly that concentration can't be easily broken

         18  and is broken, with some regularity now-a-days, by

         19  the playing of mobile phones of the Flight of the

         20  Bumble Bee or William Tell Overture or Take Me Out

         21  To The Ball Game, or something like that. We'd like

         22  to see that prohibited. We think that a law against

         23  it would help individual venues in their efforts to

         24  prohibit this. We think that people go to public

         25  performances to get away from the sounds of every
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          2  day life in New York City and that they deserve the

          3  kind of, performances deserve the kind of respect

          4  that we think that this law would make possible.

          5                 We think that most people do the

          6  right thing at public performances, but it only

          7  takes one person to ruin the public performance for

          8  thousands of other people, and I hope and I think

          9  that this legislation will help.

         10                 Thank you very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you. Do my

         12  colleagues have any questions?

         13                 Council Member Addabbo.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

         15  Mr. Chair.

         16                 Not so much a question, but a very

         17  short statement. I believe on the September 24th

         18  hearing, when we had testimony we had brought up the

         19  fact that, sure, enforcement might be an issue, or

         20  would be difficult to come by, but there are so many

         21  laws on our City books, and we listed a litany of

         22  them at that hearing, and just because a law is

         23  tough to enforce, it should not be the case that we

         24  should not entertain the idea of doing something

         25  about it, and we should not shy away from this
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          2  quality of life issue because of a minor enforcement

          3  issue.

          4                 So, as I said, I think it's an

          5  important quality of life issue that we should forge

          6  forward.

          7                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very

          9  much.

         10                 Council Member Davis.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: You forgot to

         12  make mention of Brooklyn Academy of Music where I

         13  met you.

         14                 MR. MORIARITY: I apologize.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: No problem.

         16  Don't forget, that's in the district.

         17                 I'm going to go another angle. Though

         18  I understand as a retired police officer, oh, this

         19  person is using a cell phone, you call the cop, the

         20  cop responds. He's been on patrol all day long, he

         21  responds. He is the police officer, responds, it's

         22  the movie theater, not the art, the theater, the

         23  movie theater. It's dark. It's a cell phone. Pulls

         24  it out. There's an argument, there's words back and

         25  forth, that cell phone comes out, was it a gun, was
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          2  it a phone, pow. Oh, he pulled out a cell phone. He

          3  didn't have a cell phone, whether he had keys, he

          4  didn't have keys. The enforcement, that's where my

          5  concern was. I would be lying to say -- but to

          6  Chairman Reed, and others have made such a

          7  compelling argument, I mean just really a strong

          8  argument.

          9                 The argument is going beyond some of

         10  my concerns. But I just want you to know that there

         11  are a lot of us who are very much open. In looking

         12  at all legislation, you think of what can go wrong,

         13  as well as, well, maybe one should have nothing to

         14  do with the other. So I just wanted to share how I'm

         15  going back and forth as a Council member.

         16                 Chairman Reed.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

         18                 Council Member Koppell.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Yes.

         20  Everybody might want to comment on this, but I

         21  address it particularly to the young lady who speaks

         22  to the ushers and other attendants.

         23                 In a letter from Christopher Ward,

         24  who is the Commissioner of the Department of

         25  Environmental Protection, in which he states the
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          2  position of this City in opposition to this

          3  legislation, he makes the following statement:

          4                 "Finally, enforcing standards of

          5  behavior within private buildings that do not affect

          6  public health, safety or quality of life, is a

          7  matter that could be left to persons responsible for

          8  public performance venues..." -- and this is the

          9  major thing that I want to ask you about -- "the

         10  owners and operators of public performance spaces

         11  are certainly capable of devising methods to

         12  discourage inappropriate cell phone use." Do you

         13  think that's true?

         14                 MS. MARTIN: I would guess that it's a

         15  possibility, although I think that this legislation

         16  would probably carry more weight.

         17                 We generally ask everyone we see

         18  that's carrying a cell phone to please turn it off,

         19  and I can't tell you how many performances there's

         20  at least one instance, and I'm sure that you people

         21  have meetings where there's a public announcement

         22  made where you ask them to do that and inevitably

         23  somebody's cell phone goes off. It happened here

         24  today, but you didn't make the announcement.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED: We don't have that
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          2  prohibition here in the Council yet. My colleagues

          3  are very resisted to that. I've been putting that

          4  forward informally. I'm trying to serve out my term.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So I take it,

          6  I take it that right now, even though there are

          7  attempts made to get people to turn off the phone,

          8  it doesn't work too well.

          9                 MS. MARTIN: Well, I would say that's

         10  one of the problems that I was wrestling with on a

         11  personal level is, I was concerned about should we

         12  legislate good manners, and I think it really goes

         13  beyond that.

         14                 I think it's -- I was pretty well

         15  swayed by an argument that said, well, you know, we

         16  have no smoking on airplanes and, you know, no

         17  smoking in the theater, and that seems to have

         18  worked. It took a little bit of time but it did

         19  work. And, so, yes, I do believe that this is

         20  probably a good idea.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And do you

         22  think it helps with patrons to tell them that not

         23  only is it impolite, but it's against the law? Do

         24  you think that that would have more effect on

         25  people, would motivate them?
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          2                 MS. MARTIN: It's certainly

          3  persuasive.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Yes, thank

          5  you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I think the

          7  enforcement issue is certainly the last place that

          8  people are hanging their hat, and we do have

          9  testimony, as was commented on by Council Member

         10  Koppell for the Administration from the Department

         11  of Environmental Protection, Commissioner Ward, who

         12  is a responsible, I guess, for the enforcement of

         13  this, and that seems to be the only criticism that

         14  we have from the Mayor, the second hearing that

         15  we've had and we just have not had anybody come up

         16  to us and suggested this is bad law. And I'm a

         17  little bit confused, because as you said, Ms.

         18  Martin, and others, there are lots of laws on the

         19  books that are difficult to enforce. In fact, I'm

         20  not sure, you know, the Mayor has made much of this

         21  whole non-smoking in restaurants and bars, I'm not

         22  sure how enforceable that's going to be.

         23                 It seems to me that that would still

         24  require a police officer to witness that. Unless

         25  they're going to have an undercover officer in every
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          2  bar and restaurant in the City of New York, so the

          3  Mayor is indicating to us that he's not supportive

          4  of this bill for the enforceability component. That

          5  logic doesn't stand with the Chair of this

          6  Committee. And I appreciate that you wrestled with

          7  it back and forth, particularly since you and most

          8  other people here are, as you said, on the front

          9  lines, the people who actually have to say something

         10  to somebody about the issue. It's easy for us to

         11  pass the law, you're the people, the men and women

         12  who have to deal with it. So, I appreciate where

         13  you've come down on this, and your characterization

         14  of other things that at first people thought would

         15  be problematic and unenforceable, but that pressure

         16  of societally as well as legislatively, if this is

         17  something you can't do, we've seen it work. People

         18  said the pooper scooper law wasn't going to work,

         19  people said the no smoking law wasn't going to -- it

         20  does have that impact.

         21                 So, I appreciate the concern that you

         22  had and raised and thought through.

         23                 Council Member Davis, you had another

         24  question?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Before the
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          2  showing of a movie, you know, as we grew up they

          3  would show no, the popcorn, no eating, no talking,

          4  right before the movie maybe they can use another

          5  one that says no cell phone use. I'm just concerned

          6  that where do we draw the line, as Chairman Reed

          7  made mention of the Mayors and I'm back and forth

          8  with that, the cigarette ban also, in case they want

          9  to have like a cigar bar or cigarette smoking bar

         10  where people go and everyone smokes; when do we

         11  stop? No talking? I mean, are we trying to legislate

         12  manners, so a person phone goes off. Now we have

         13  it's against the law to talk, to speak, so someone

         14  sitting in the theater, and the artists are doing

         15  their performance and someone reaches over and

         16  whispers the person next to them and, hey, no

         17  talking, because we can't have the cell phone so we

         18  shouldn't have the talking, and there's a law

         19  against talking.

         20                 It's very interesting to go in to

         21  start dealing with legislating manners, which they

         22  are wrong to use the phone, and they are wrong also

         23  to talk, but at what point do we say -- I haven't

         24  made up my mind, I'm wrestling too. The smoking

         25  didn't sell me because the smoking one is secondhand
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          2  smoke and that's health. But I'm reading every

          3  article and meeting with Chairman Reed and so on and

          4  so forth. My vote is not out yet.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: That was a

          6  question?

          7                 Thank you, Mr. Davis.

          8                 Is there anything else that you all

          9  would like to add?

         10                 Thank you all very much for coming

         11  today.

         12                 I also wanted to take note, I wanted

         13  to offer my appreciation to our Counsel Deborah

         14  Brown for the work that she has done on this bill,

         15  and a lot of the other things that obviously are

         16  happening in this Committee, but I think the new

         17  bill is very responsive to the issues that were

         18  raised, and I hope that at our next hearing in

         19  November we will be taking a vote on this, and I

         20  would encourage any of my colleagues who think

         21  they're going to vote against this to speak to me

         22  and we'll work it out, all right?

         23                 Thank you. Lest I hear there's

         24  anybody else here, this hearing is adjourned.

         25                 (Written testimony read into the
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          2  record.)

          3

          4  Written Testimony Of:

          5  Robert H. Sunshine

          6  National Association of Theatre Owners

          7

          8  To: Philip Reed, Chairman

          9  Members of the Consumer Affairs Committee

         10

         11  From: Robert H. Sunshine

         12

         13  RE: Int. No. 257-A, Mobile Phone Legislation

         14

         15  Date: October 17, 2002

         16

         17                 Due to circumstances beyond my

         18  control, I am unable to appear personally before

         19  this committee to testify on Int. 257-A, Mobile

         20  Phone Legislation.

         21                 Our organization, the National

         22  Association of Theatre Owners of New York State,

         23  which represents movie theaters across the state,

         24  supports this legislation and commends the committee

         25  for revising the legislation to adopt some of the
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          2  recommendations that were made by our association at

          3  the initial meeting on this legislation on September

          4  24th.

          5                 Cell phones have been a constant

          6  problem at our theaters over the past ten years. We

          7  have been very active in asking our patrons to

          8  please be courteous and respect their fellow

          9  audience members in turning off their cell phones at

         10  the beginning of a feature. We have done this

         11  through signage in our theatres as well as

         12  projecting a message on the screen.

         13                 We believe that projecting a message

         14  that clearly states that cell phones are prohibited,

         15  and that this is a city law, will serve as a

         16  deterrent to people using their phones in

         17  auditoriums.

         18                 We acknowledge and applaud your

         19  efforts in revising this legislation to meet our

         20  specific needs of allowing phones in the theatre as

         21  opposed to the auditorium when a movie is playing

         22  and to specify that enforcement is the

         23  responsibility of a city agency.

         24                 This is a wonderful example of

         25  government listening to the people and government
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          2  for the people.

          3                 Respectfully submitted: Robert H.

          4  Sunshine.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 2:30 p.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 21st day of October 2002.
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         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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